
Y:\10 - Commission Meetings\2023 Agendas\12-19-2023\CMI Lease CTC Third Floor - Memo.docx 

 
Memo 
To:  Board of Directors 

From:  Stacie de Mestre 

Date: December 13, 2023 

Re: CMI Lease – CTC Third Floor 

Please see attached for the draft lease agreement between the CDRPA 
and CMI Orchards for the third floor of the Confluence Technology 
Center.  General terms of the lease are as follows: 

• Initial 10-year term with two 5-year extensions. 

• 3% annual rent adjustment. 

• Landlord to perform up to $1,500,000 of general interior 
improvements with tenant matching 50% of the cost.  Any 
improvements in excess of $1,500,000 will be the sole 
responsibility of tenant.   

• Rent commences upon substantial completion of 
improvements.  

• Non-designated use of 80 parking stalls. 

• Use of CTC conference rooms at 20% discount plus two 
meetings per year in the Quad Room at no cost. 

Staff is seeking Board approval to execute the lease agreement with 
CMI Orchards assuming there are no substantial changes to the 
business terms during negotiations. 



Commercial Lease Agreement 1 
4865-4839-6690, v. 2 
{PAF4865-4839-6690;2/23058.040050/} 

COMMERCIAL LEASE AGREEMENT 

 THIS LEASE AGREEMENT (“Lease”) made and entered into effective as of ___ day of 
                         , 2023, by and between the CHELAN DOUGLAS REGIONAL PORT 
AUTHORITY, a municipal corporation,  (“Landlord”) and CMI ORCHARDS, INC., a Washington 
corporation (“Tenant”), sometimes referred to as the “Parties”. 

RECITALS 

A. The Port of Chelan County (the “Port”) owns real property legally described on Exhibit 
“A”, which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference (the “Land”) 
and the improvements located on the Land commonly referred to as the Confluence 
Technology Center (“CTC”). The Land and the CTC are collectively referred to as the 
“Property”. 

B. Notwithstanding the Port’s ownership of the Property, the Port has delegated to the 
Chelan Douglas Regional Port Authority (“CDRPA”, also referred to herein as the 
Landlord) the authority to negotiate and sign leases, and to otherwise manage and 
operate the Property on behalf of the Port. 

C. Tenant desires to lease 21,617 square feet within CTC as depicted on Exhibit “B”, which 
is attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference (hereafter, the 
“Premises”).  The Premises include exclusive use of the third floor of the CTC, except 
that the Landlord has access to and use of the elevators, stairwells, mechanical rooms 
and building system maintenance closets located within the third floor as depicted on 
Exhibit “B”. 

D. The Premises include the following amenities shared in common with other tenants of 
the CTC:  parking, landscaping, and certain utilities and services, as more fully described 
herein. 

E. The Parties now wish to set forth the terms pursuant to which Tenant will lease the 
Premises from Landlord, on the terms and conditions stated herein.  

AGREEMENT 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals which are incorporated into 
the Agreement by reference, and for other good and valuable consideration, the Parties agree 
as follows: 

1. Recitals and Exhibits.  The above-referenced recitals and all exhibits attached hereto 
are incorporated herein by this reference as binding commitments of the Parties. 

2. Premises.  Landlord hereby leases to Tenant, and Tenant leases from Landlord, upon the 
terms and conditions included in this Lease, the Premises.  The Landlord covenants with Tenant 



Commercial Lease Agreement 2 
4865-4839-6690, v. 2 
{PAF4865-4839-6690;2/23058.040050/} 

that the title to the Property is clear of any claims by third parties that would interfere with the 
Tenant’s use and possession of the Premises.   

2.1 Parking Stalls.  Tenant will have use of up to 80 stalls on a non-designated basis in 
the east and back parking lots on the Property. 

2.2 Conference Room Use.  Subject to availability, Tenant shall have the use of the 
large conference room in the main floor of the CTC (commonly referred as the Quad Room) two 
(2) times per year, at no cost to Tenant for the room rental (all other standard costs apply); 
provided that each use shall not exceed one-day and shall occur during normal business hours of 
the CTC (as determined by the Landlord).  Each use of the large conference room shall be 
scheduled by Tenant with the Landlord no less than sixty (60) days before the desired date of use.  
Tenant shall receive a twenty percent (20%) discount on any room rental fees set by Landlord for 
meeting room space Landlord makes available in the CTC. 

3. Term of Lease.  The original term of this Lease shall be for a term commencing the 
effective date of this Lease and ending August 31, 2034, unless modified or sooner terminated 
pursuant to the terms of this Lease (see Section 6). 

3.1 Option to Extend.  The Tenant shall have the option to extend this Lease for two (2) 
additional five (5) year terms (each an “Extension Term”).  To exercise the option to extend this 
Lease, Tenant must provide Landlord written notice at least one hundred eighty (180) days, but 
not more than three hundred sixty (360) days prior to the expiration of the initial term, or any 
Extension Term (the “Extension Notice”). Failure to timely provide the Extension Notice may, at 
the option of the Landlord, result in the termination of the Lease at the end of the then-current 
term.  Landlord shall not be obligated to accept Tenant’s exercise of its option under the Extension 
Notice, if at either the time the Extension Notice is given or at the end of the then-expiring term, (i) 
an event of default exists under this Lease, or (ii) an event has occurred or failed to occur or a 
condition exists, which with or without notice or the passage of time, or both, would constitute an 
event of default under this Lease, or (iii) the Tenant has defaulted in the payment of rent or any 
other sum due under this Lease on more than two (2) occasions during the current term, even if 
Tenant timely cures the default as provided in Section 15.1, below.  

The terms of the Lease will remain in effect during any Extension Term, except that the 
Rent will be as determined under Section 4, below. 

4. Rent.  Commencing on the Completion Date (as defined in Section 6.6, below), Tenant 
shall pay Landlord monthly rent in the amount of Forty Three Thousand Two Hundred Thirty 
Four and No/100 Dollars ($43,234.00) (“Base Rent”) in lawful money of the United States.  The 
Base Rent shall be paid in advance on or before the first day of each month of the Lease term 
and any renewal thereof, subject to Section 4.1, below.   

4.1 Annual Rent Adjustment.  Effective September 1, 2025, and on the same date each 
year thereafter (the “adjustment date”), including each year of an Extension Term, if the Lease is 
extended as set forth in Section 3.1 above, the Base Rent shall increase by three percent (3%) over 



Commercial Lease Agreement 3 
4865-4839-6690, v. 2 
{PAF4865-4839-6690;2/23058.040050/} 

the prior year’s Base Rent.  For example, the Base Rent commencing September 1, 2026 shall be 
$45,866.95. 

4.2 Additional Rent.  In addition to Base Rent, the Tenant shall pay Landlord a monthly 
amount equal to Additional Rent, as defined in Section 6.4, below.  The Additional Rent shall be  
paid in lawful money of the United States and paid in advance on or before the first day of each 
month for a period of ninety-six (96) months.  Additional Rent shall not be subject to the annual 
rent adjustment in Section 4.1, above.   

4.3 Leasehold Tax.  In addition to all other charges called for in this Lease, including 
Base Rent and Additional Rent, Tenant shall pay to Landlord each month such sums as may be 
required by law, and from which Tenant is not exempt, for payment of leasehold tax or required 
by the state of Washington or other tax entity, as such laws now exist or as they may hereafter be 
amended, such leasehold tax currently being 12.84%.  The Tenant acknowledges that leasehold tax 
required by the state of Washington will be collected on the Base Rent and the Additional Rent. 

4.4 Late Charge and Costs.  If any payment to be made by Tenant is not received by 
Landlord within ten (10) days after the date it is due, Tenant agrees to pay a late charge of ten 
percent (10%) of the amount of said payment for each month the payment remains unpaid.  The 
late charge is due immediately, without notice, and is in addition to all of Landlord’s rights in this 
Lease.  If Landlord elects to provide written notice of delinquency or other violation of the Lease, 
Tenant agrees to pay Landlord’s cost and attorneys’ fees reasonably incurred in providing such 
notice in addition to the late charge and all other payments and obligations called for herein. 

4.5 Pro Rata Rent.  In the event the Completion Date occurs on a date other than the 
first day of the month, Tenant shall pay a pro-rated amount of Base Rent, in advance, on the 
Completion Date, based on the number of days left in the month.  Additional Rent shall not be pro-
rated and the first payment of Additional Rent, in full, shall be made on the Completion Date, and 
subsequent payments of Additional Rent shall be made on the first day of the month as set forth in 
Section 4.2, above. 

5. Net Lease. The Parties intend that this Lease be net to the Landlord.  Except as 
otherwise specifically set forth herein this Lease, Tenant shall be solely responsible to pay all 
costs and expenses, including those associated with any installation, maintenance, 
replacement, repair or otherwise associated with the Premises.  Tenant’s obligations include, 
but are not limited to the costs and expenses associated with upkeep, interior window cleaning 
for the Premises (the entire third floor of the CTC), Tenant Utilities, janitorial services, and the 
like associated with the Premises. The term “Tenant Utilities” as used herein shall include 
telephone, cable, and fiber.  Should Landlord incur any expense associated with the matters 
described herein, Tenant shall immediately reimburse Landlord for such expense upon 
Landlord’s written demand therefor (see Section 4.4)   

5.1 Security Deposit. Upon execution of this Lease, the Tenant shall deposit and 
maintain with Landlord a security deposit in the amount of Forty Thousand and No/100 Dollars 
($40,000.00) in the form of cash or other deposit acceptable to Landlord.  The security deposit 



Commercial Lease Agreement 4 
4865-4839-6690, v. 2 
{PAF4865-4839-6690;2/23058.040050/} 

shall be held by Landlord as security for the full and faithful performance by Tenant of each and 
every term, covenant and condition of the Lease, and not as a prepayment of rent.  The security 
deposit shall be placed in an account of Landlord’s choice and the interest, if any, that accrues on 
said account, shall belong to the Landlord. 

5.1.1 If Tenant breaches any of the terms of this Lease, including but not limited 
to the obligation to pay Base Rent and Additional Rent, Landlord may, at Landlord’s option, make 
demand upon such security and immediately apply the proceeds thereof toward the damages or 
expenses incurred by or sums owed to Landlord pursuant to this Lease, without notice to Tenant.  
The application of the security deposit to any Tenant obligation under this Lease does not cure the 
breach of this Lease and does not preclude the Landlord from exercising any other remedy 
available to Landlord under this Lease, or otherwise.  Within sixty (60) days of the end of the 
Tenant’s term (or any extension thereof, if applicable) the Landlord shall return the then current 
balance of the security deposit to the Tenant, less any offset, for the Tenant’s failure to fully and 
faithfully perform Tenant’s obligations under the Lease.  

6. Landlord Improvements.  

6.1 Interior Improvements to the Premises.  The Parties have identified certain 
general purpose improvements to be completed by Landlord (“Landlord’s Improvements”), 
subject to the terms and conditions of this Section 6.  Landlord shall construct and complete the 
Landlord Improvements in accordance with the plans and specifications therefor (“Plans and 
Specifications”) to be prepared by the Bernado Will architectural firm (the “Architect”).  A general 
description of the elements to be addressed in the Plans and Specifications is attached hereto as 
Exhibit “C” and incorporated herein by this reference.   

6.2 Plans and Specifications.  Landlord shall retain the Architect to prepare the Plans 
and Specifications for Landlord’s Improvements.  The Landlord and Tenant shall cooperate and 
meet, as needed, to develop the Plans and Specifications.  The final form of the Plans and 
Specifications must be approved by both the Landlord and Tenant.  In the event the Parties are 
unable to agree on the final form of the Plans and Specifications, they agree to submit the 
outstanding matters to mediation as set forth in Section 6.7, below.  Upon approval of the Plans 
and Specifications, the Architect shall prepare an estimate of probable costs for the construction 
of the Landlord’s Improvements (which is a portion of the Total Cost, as defined below).  In the 
event the estimate of Total Cost prepared by the Architect based on the approved Plans and 
Specification exceeds $1.5 million, then Tenant shall immediately deposit the sum in excess of $1.5 
million as security for Tenant’s obligation to reimburse the Landlord for the Landlord’s 
Improvements (see Section 6.4, below).   

6.3 Building Permit; Bidding.   

6.3.1 Upon approval the Plans and Specifications, the Landlord shall prepare 
and submit for a building permit with the City of Wenatchee.  Any material changes to the Plans 
and Specifications occurring during the review process associated with the building permit shall 
be approved by both Landlord and Tenant.  In the event the Parties are unable to agree on the 



Commercial Lease Agreement 5 
4865-4839-6690, v. 2 
{PAF4865-4839-6690;2/23058.040050/} 

revisions to the Plans and Specifications to advance the processing of the building permit, the 
matter shall be submitted to mediation as set forth in Section 6.7, below.  In the event the 
Landlord is not able to obtain a building permit based on the Plans and Specifications, as may 
be revised, then this Lease shall terminate and be of no further force or effect the Tenant shall 
pay the Landlord for 50% of the costs incurred by Landlord through the date of the notice of 
termination is provided by Landlord to Tenant.    

6.3.2 At any time after the approval of the Plans and Specifications, but no 
later than the date a building permit for the Landlord’s Improvements is issued, the Architect 
shall prepare bid documents and the Landlord shall advertise and bid the Landlord’s 
Improvements, based on the Plans and Specification, according to public works laws of the 
state of Washington.  Upon receipt of the bids, the Landlord and Tenant shall meet and confer 
regarding the impact to the Total Cost.  If the impact to the Total Cost, as a result of the bid 
received from the apparent low bidder, results in an increase of more than 10% of the estimate 
of Total Cost prepared pursuant to Section 6.2, then (i) the Parties shall meet and confer on 
whether to accept the bid submitted by the apparent low bidder, or (ii) either Party may elect 
to have the Landlord reject all bids.  In the event of a rejection of all bids, the Parties will meet 
and confer to revise the Plans and Specifications and the process in Sections 6.2 and 6.3 shall be 
repeated one more time.  If, as a result of the second bid, and the Total Cost based on the 
apparent low bidder during the second bid exceeds the second, estimated Total Cost prepared 
in Section 6.2 by more than 10%, then the Tenant shall elect to (a) terminate this Lease by 
providing written notice to Landlord and, in this event, the Tenant shall pay the Landlord for 
50% of the costs incurred by Landlord through the date of the notice of termination; or (b) 
authorize the Landlord to award of the bid and proceed with the construction of the Landlord 
Improvements.   

6.4 Cost Allocation.  All design and engineering fees, permitting costs, construction 
administration, costs related to construction contracts, and all other construction related expenses 
incurred by Landlord associated with the Landlord’s Improvements (“Total Cost”) shall be shared 
on an equal basis with Landlord paying 50% and the Tenant paying 50%; provided, however, that 
the Landlord contribution toward the Total Cost is capped at $750,000 and Tenant shall be solely 
responsible for the Total Costs in excess of $1.5 million.   

6.4.1 After bids are received to construct the Landlord’s Improvements, then 
the Total Cost shall be updated based on the apparent low bidder.  In the event the updated 
Total Cost exceeds $1.5 million, then Tenant shall immediately deposit the sum in excess of 
$1.5 million as security for Tenant’s obligation to reimburse the Landlord for the Landlord’s 
Improvements (after accounting for any sums deposited as set forth in Section 6.2, above). 

6.4.2 Notwithstanding Sections 6.2 and 6.4.1 above, the Tenant remains 
responsible for all costs in excess of $1.5 million and shall pay the Landlord for said costs in 
excess of $1.5 million within 10 days of a written demand therefore (after accounting for any 
sums deposited as set forth in Sections 6.2 and 6.4.1, above). 



Commercial Lease Agreement 6 
4865-4839-6690, v. 2 
{PAF4865-4839-6690;2/23058.040050/} 

6.4.3 On or before the Completion Date, the Landlord shall provide Tenant a 
written summary of the final Total Cost.   

6.4.3.1 If the final Total Cost is less than $1.5 million, then (a) one half 
of the Total Cost shall be divided by 96 and the resulting amount shall be collected as 
“Additional Rent” pursuant to Section 4, above; and (b) any funds deposited as security 
pursuant to Sections 6.2 and 6.4.1 shall be refunded to Tenant, without interest, within 30 days 
following the delivery of the summary of the final Total Cost, unless the Tenant disputes the 
summary. 

6.4.3.2 If the final Total Cost is equal to or greater than $1.5 million, 
then (a) the Additional Rent shall be $7,812.50 ($750,000 divided by 96) and collected pursuant 
to Section 4, above, and (b) the Tenant shall pay the Landlord for all sums in excess of $1.5 
million as set forth in Section 6.4.2, above, after taking into account the funds deposited as 
security pursuant to Sections 6.2 and 6.4.1, above; provided that if the funds on deposit exceed 
the amount owed by Tenant pursuant to Section 6.4.2, then the excess shall be refunded to 
Tenant, without interest, within 30 days following the delivery of the summary of the final Total 
Cost, unless the Tenant disputes the summary. 

6.5 Final Inspection; Punchlist.  The Architect, Landlord and Tenant shall perform a 
walk-through of the Premises and inspect the Landlord’s Improvements near the conclusion of 
construction of the Landlord’s Improvements, as determined by Landlord.  The Architect shall, if 
applicable, prepare a punchlist, which may include Tenant’s reasonable input provided during the 
walk-through, of any minor items remaining to be completed based on the Plans and 
Specifications, which Landlord shall promptly require its contractor to diligently prosecute to 
completion.  The Landlord shall notify Tenant, in writing, when the work identified on the punch 
list has been completed. 

6.6 Completion Date.  Landlord shall diligently have its contractor prosecute the 
completion of the Landlord Improvements in a good and workmanlike manner, in accordance with 
the Premises Plans and Specifications and in compliance with all applicable governmental 
requirements, including all required permits, licenses, approvals and building codes until the 
Landlord’s Improvements are Substantially Completed.  Landlord shall keep Tenant reasonably 
apprised of the progress of the Landlord Improvements and the expected date of delivery of 
possession of the Premises to Tenant.  The term “Substantially Completed,” as used in this Section 
6, is herein defined to mean that the Landlord Improvements have passed the inspection of any 
applicable government authorities and a certificate of occupancy has been issued.  The date that 
the Landlord delivers the certificate of occupancy to the Tenant shall be the “Completion Date”; 
provided however, in the event there are any outstanding issues to resolve as a result of the punch 
list process in Section 6.5 when the certificate of occupancy is delivered to Tenant, then the 
Completion Date shall be the date that Landlord delivers written notice to the Tenant that the 
work identified on the punch list has been completed.  The Landlord makes no representations or 
warranties regarding the timing of Completion Date and it shall not be a breach of this Lease if the 
Completion Date occurs later than anticipated by the Landlord or Tenant.  Neither Party shall have 



Commercial Lease Agreement 7 
4865-4839-6690, v. 2 
{PAF4865-4839-6690;2/23058.040050/} 

any liability and no damages, of any kind or nature, shall accrue against either Party as a result of 
the actual Completion Date.  The Parties jointly accept all risk associated with permitting delays, 
construction disputes, delays of any kind, supply chain disruptions, and the like that will impact the 
Completion Date.  The Tenant waives all claims against Landlord of any kind or nature, in law or in 
equity, associated with the ultimate Completion Date being unknown and subject to multiple 
variables. 

6.7 Mediation.  In the event the Parties are unable to reach agreement regarding the 
Plans and Specifications, and revisions thereof during the building permit process, or as a result of 
a re-bid of the contract to construct the Landlord’s Improvements (see Sections 6.2 and 6.3.1), 
then the Parties agree to immediately submit the matter to mediation before a disinterested 
mediator familiar with commercial construction projects (the mediator may be an architect or 
engineer, or other disinterested mediator).  The Parties agree that the mediation shall not last 
longer than one-day and that the Landlord and Tenant shall each pay one-half of the costs 
incurred with the mediator.  Any agreement reached during mediation shall be reduced to writing 
and signed by the Parties and the process in this Section 6 shall resume.  In the event the Parties 
are unable to reach agreement during the mediation, then this Lease shall terminate and be of no 
further force or effect between the Parties, and, in this event, the Tenant shall pay the Landlord 
for 50% of the costs incurred by Landlord through the date of mediation.  

7. Tenant Improvements.  Tenant shall not make any tenant improvements or alterations to 
the Premises without the prior written consent of the Landlord.  Landlord shall not unreasonably 
withhold Landlord’s consent to any improvements or alterations, provided, however that Landlord 
is not obligated to approve any changes, which, in the opinion of the Landlord’s consultants, might 
jeopardize the structural integrity of the Premises, increase the costs of re-letting the Premises, 
increase the responsibilities of the Landlord relative to maintenance and repair, or make the 
Premises less functional to the next occupant.   

7.1 Design plans must be submitted to Landlord, in advance, for review and approval 
for each alteration or improvement requested by Tenant.  Approval for structural changes must be 
approved in advance by Landlord’s engineer.  Tenant shall bear Landlord’s reasonable costs of 
investigation for requested changes, including engineer’s and other expert’s fees. 

7.2 All such approved changes, shall be at the Tenant’s sole cost and expense; and 
Tenant shall use a licensed and bonded contractor or contractors for such alterations.  Tenant’s 
contractor shall names the Landlord as an additional insured with policy terms and limits 
reasonably acceptable to Landlord.  Tenant agrees that any alterations or improvements made 
shall not abate the rent.  In the performance of such work, Tenant agrees to comply with all laws 
and ordinances and to hold Landlord harmless from any damage, loss or expense caused by work 
performed by Tenant. 

7.3 Any approved alterations or improvements of the Premises shall become at once a 
part of the realty and belong to the Landlord, except trade fixtures supplied and paid for by the 
Tenant (subject to the Tenant’s duty to remove as set out in this Lease), and Section 7.4 below. 



Commercial Lease Agreement 8 
4865-4839-6690, v. 2 
{PAF4865-4839-6690;2/23058.040050/} 

7.4 At Landlord’s written request to remove some or all of the approved alterations 
and improvements, which shall be delivered to Tenant no later than twenty (20) days after the 
termination or expiration of the Lease, Tenant shall remove the approved improvements or 
alterations identified by Landlord in its written request and restore the Premises to the condition 
that existed upon the Completion Date, except for normal wear and tear, within thirty (30) days of 
the date of the written request from Landlord. If Landlord does not submit the request , then 
Tenant shall have no obligation to remove approved improvements or alterations (see Section 17). 

7.5 Tenant shall keep the Premises free from any liens and shall indemnify and hold 
Landlord harmless and defend it from any liens or encumbrances, damage, loss or expense arising 
out of any work performed or materials furnished by or at the direction of Tenant, or otherwise, to 
the Premises.   

8. Utilities.   

8.1 Tenant shall make all arrangements and be solely responsible for Tenant Utilities 
(as defined in Section 5).   

8.2 Landlord shall be responsible for the costs associated with electrical, water and 
sewer service provided to the CTC, parking lot maintenance, garbage, elevator maintenance, 
building insurance, and outside window cleaning. 

8.3 Landlord maintains a security badge system for the CTC to regulate access to 
certain areas within the CTC.  Tenant shall use Landlord’s security system, which will require that 
everyone accessing the Premises must be badged.  The initial badge for each person is at the cost 
of the Landlord.  All replacement badges for lost or damaged security badges shall be at the cost of 
the Tenant, according to the rules and regulations of the Landlord for the CTC.  If Tenant further 
secures the space on the third floor of the CTC, then Landlord shall be provided access keys or 
badges for entry for emergency purposes and as otherwise allowed under this Lease.  Tenant must 
greet guests, visitors and the like on the main floor for the CTC.   

8.4 Landlord does not warrant that any utility services or systems will be free from 
interruption.  The Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant for any loss or damage caused by or 
resulting from any variation, interruption, or failure of heat, cooling, ventilation, or electricity or 
any other utility services or systems due to any cause, other than Landlord’s negligent or willful 
acts.  No temporary interruption or failure of utility services due to the making of repairs, 
alterations, or improvements, or due to accident, strike or conditions or events beyond Landlord’s 
control shall be deemed an eviction of Tenant or relieve Tenant from any of Tenant’s obligations 
under this Lease. 

9. Repair and Maintenance.   

9.1 By Tenant. Tenant shall, at its own cost and expense during the term of this Lease, 
keep and maintain the Premises, in a good condition and state of repair, at least comparable to 
that which existed as of the Completion Date. Tenant shall make or cause to be made, as and 



Commercial Lease Agreement 9 
4865-4839-6690, v. 2 
{PAF4865-4839-6690;2/23058.040050/} 

when the same become necessary, all nonstructural, interior, replacements, maintenance, repairs 
and restorations necessary to the Premises, including cracked or broken glass, interior window 
cleaning, paint, carpet, plumbing (including but not limited to the restrooms included as part of 
the Premises), electrical (including all lighting for the Premises) and mechanical (except the HVAC 
system, which shall be maintained and repaired by Landlord ).  All replacements, repairs and 
restorations required of Tenant shall be done in a good and workmanlike manner and of a quality, 
kind and appearance at least equal to the original work and shall be installed or completed by 
licensed and bonded contractors, and in compliance with all standards and requirements of law, 
licenses and municipal ordinances.  Except as stated in Section 9.2, Landlord shall have no 
obligation to do any repairs or maintenance associated with the Premises. 

9.2 By Landlord. Landlord shall maintain and repair the exterior structure of the CTC, 
the roof, roof membrane, foundation and load bearing and exterior walls. Landlord shall be 
responsible for all parking lot and snow removal, exterior .  Notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary in this paragraph, any maintenance or repair to the Premises necessitated by the 
negligence or wrongful act of the Tenant, its agents, employees, officers, guests, invitees, or 
representatives, shall be the responsibility of the Tenant. 

10. Use.  Tenant shall use the Premises for office space. The Tenant shall not use or permit 
the use of the Premises for any unlawful or immoral activity, nor suffer nor permit on the 
Premises any nuisance or offensive object, matter or activity.  Tenant shall comply with 
Landlord’s Rules and Regulations, as they currently exist or are hereafter adopted or amended, 
from time to time.  Landlord shall provide a copy of the Rules and Regulations to Tenant.  To 
the extent of a conflict between this Lease and the Rules and Regulations, this Lease shall 
control. 

10.1 Signs.  Tenant may request placement of one exterior sign on the CTC subject to 
any applicable laws, code or ordinances.  Landlord shall review the request and approve, deny, or 
condition the approval of the exterior sign, which decision is committed to the sole discretion of 
the Landlord.  Tenant shall be solely responsible for installing its sign, maintaining its signs in good 
condition and repair and restoring any damage caused by the removal of such sign at the end of 
this Lease.  In the event a pylon or monument is made available by the Landlord and Tenant 
desires a sign place thereon, then the Tenant shall have the sign prepared, consistent with 
Landlord’s instructions, and the Landlord shall install Tenant’s sign on the pylon or monument and 
invoice the Tenant for the actual costs incurred associated with said installation.  Tenant shall also 
be responsible for the actual costs incurred by Landlord if the sign needs to be replaced or 
removed. 

11. Tenant Covenants.  Tenant shall, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense: 

11.1 Refrain from any use which would be reasonably offensive to the Landlord, other 
tenants, owners or users of adjoining premises, or which would tend to create a nuisance or 
interfere with the use of the CTC. 



Commercial Lease Agreement 10 
4865-4839-6690, v. 2 
{PAF4865-4839-6690;2/23058.040050/} 

11.2 Keep and maintain the Premises, improvements or other materials placed on the 
Premises in a safe, clean and orderly manner. 

11.3 Comply with all laws, orders and regulations of Federal, State and municipal 
authorities, including any rules and regulations adopted by the Landlord, and any future 
amendments thereto.  

11.4 Comply with all health, safety and security codes applicable to the use of the 
Premises and shall comply with any direction of any public officer, pursuant to law, which shall 
impose any duty upon the Landlord or the Tenant with respect to the Premises.   

11.5 Obtain all licenses or permits which may be required for the conduct of Tenant’s 
business within the terms of this Lease, or for the making of repairs, alterations, improvements, or 
additions, and the Landlord, at Tenant’s expense and when reasonably necessary, will join the 
Tenant in applying for all such permits or licenses. 

12. Tenant’s Acceptance: AS-IS NO WARRANTY. Except as to the specific representations of 
Landlord regarding the construction of the Premises, Tenant accepts the Premises in AS-IS 
condition without representation or warranty, of any kind or nature, based solely on Tenant’s 
own inspection, occupancy and investigation of the Premises.  Tenant releases Landlord from 
any responsibility for any representation that may have been made to the Tenant about the 
Premises that is not specifically set out in this Lease Agreement.  In no event shall the Landlord be 
liable for any defect in such property or the Premises, any service thereto, or the Premises’ lack 
of fitness for Tenant’s use.  

13. Management of Lease and Property.  As set forth in the Recitals, the POCC has 
delegated certain authority to the CDRPA.  So long as the delegation to the CDRPA remains in 
effect, the CDRPA shall be the “Landlord” for purposes of this Lease.  If the delegation to the 
CDRPA terminates, then the Port shall automatically become the Landlord for purposes of this 
Lease without the approval or consent of the Tenant.  Nevertheless, Tenant shall name the Port 
and CDRPA, their officers, officials, employees, and volunteers as additional insureds as 
required by Section 20, below, and agrees to indemnify the Port to the same extent as the 
Landlord as set forth in Section 21 of the Lease Agreement.  So long as the delegation to the 
CDRPA remains in effect, the Tenant shall look to the CDRPA for the performance of all 
obligations under this Lease and agrees that the Port shall have no liability arising from the 
CDRPA’s actions or inactions under the Lease. The CDRPA represents and warrants that it has 
full authority to execute this Lease and to act on behalf of the Port with respect to the Lease. 

14. Right of Entry.  The Landlord and its representatives may enter the Premises, at a 
mutually agreeable time upon providing reasonable notice to Tenant, for the purpose of 
inspecting the Premises, performing any work which the Landlord elects or is required to 
undertake or which is made necessary by reason of the Tenant's default under the terms of this 
Lease, exhibiting the Premises for sale, lease or mortgage financing, or posting notices of non-
responsibility under any mechanic's lien law.  In the event the Parties cannot agree, the 



Commercial Lease Agreement 11 
4865-4839-6690, v. 2 
{PAF4865-4839-6690;2/23058.040050/} 

Landlord may enter the Premises upon providing reasonable notice to Tenant. In case of 
emergency or fire, Landlord may enter the Premise at any time without notice or Tenant. 

15. Default and Re-Entry.   

15.1 If Tenant defaults in any payment due under the terms of this Lease (including 
rent), and such default is not cured within ten (10) calendar days after written notice from 
Landlord, or within thirty (30) calendar days after written notice from Landlord if the default is 
other than the payment of money, Landlord may terminate this Lease and re-enter the Premises; 
or Landlord may, without terminating this Lease, re-enter said Premises, and relet the whole or 
any part of the Premises upon as favorable terms and conditions as the market will allow for the 
balance of the Lease term. 

15.2 Notwithstanding any re-entry, the liability of the Tenant for the full amounts 
payable by the Tenant under this Lease shall not be extinguished for the balance of the Lease or 
renewal term. Tenant shall make good to Landlord any deficiency arising from a reletting of the 
Premises at a lesser rental or on different economic terms plus the reasonable costs and expenses 
of re-letting the Premises including, but not limited, to commissions, advertising, attorney’s fees, 
and the costs of renovating or altering the Premises. 

15.3 At Landlord’s sole option, the deficiency between the amount to be received by the 
relet and the amount to be received if Tenant had fulfilled the Lease may be reduced to present 
cash value based on a six percent (6%) yield, and be declared due and owing, at any time after is 
the Premises are relet. Tenant shall pay such amount upon demand.  If Landlord elects this 
remedy, Landlord shall have no other remedy against Tenant for Rent. Alternatively, Tenant shall 
pay any deficiency caused by Tenant’s default each month.  The ability of Landlord to re-enter and 
relet shall not impose upon Landlord the obligation to do so. 

15.4 The above remedies shall be in addition to and shall not preclude any other remedy 
available to Landlord under applicable law, including, but not limited to, all equitable remedies. 

15.5 Each of the following events is a default by Tenant and a breach of this Lease: 

15.6 Any failure by Tenant to make any payment required to be made by Tenant on or 
before the time the payment is due beyond any applicable cure period. 

15.7 The abandonment or vacation of the Premises by the Tenant. 

15.8 A failure by Tenant to observe and perform any provision of this Lease or any other 
lease or agreement between Tenant or any subsidiaries of Tenant and Landlord which is to be 
observed or performed by the Tenant or any subsidiary of Tenant beyond any applicable cure 
period. 

15.9 The appointment of a receiver to take possession of all or substantially all the 
assets of the Tenant.  



Commercial Lease Agreement 12 
4865-4839-6690, v. 2 
{PAF4865-4839-6690;2/23058.040050/} 

15.10 A general assignment by Tenant for the benefit of creditors. 

15.11 Any action taken or suffered by Tenant under any insolvency or bankruptcy act. If 
Tenant becomes insolvent, bankrupt, or if a receiver, assignee, or other liquidating officer is 
appointed for the Tenant’s business, Landlord may cancel this Lease, subject to Section 365 of 
Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. 365. 

16. Landlord’s Cure of Tenant’s Default.  If the Tenant shall be in default hereunder, the 
Landlord may cure such default on behalf of the Tenant, in which event the Tenant shall 
reimburse the Landlord for all sums paid to effect such cure, together with interest at the rate 
of twelve percent (12%) per annum and reasonable attorney’s fees.  In order to collect such 
reimbursement, the Landlord shall have all the remedies available under this Lease for a default 
in the payment of rent. 

17. Vacating Upon Termination; Restoration.  Tenant covenants and agrees that upon the 
expiration of the Lease or upon the termination of the Lease, Tenant shall at once peacefully 
surrender and deliver the whole of the above-described Premises together with all 
improvements, except trade fixtures, thereon to the Landlord or Landlord’s agents or assigns as 
follows:  within thirty (30) days following the expiration or termination of the Lease, the Tenant 
shall restore the Premises to the condition that existed upon the Completion Date to the 
reasonable satisfaction of the Landlord, except for reasonable wear and tear and approved 
alterations and improvements that Landlord has not requested the Tenant to remove as 
provided in Section 7. 

18. Damage or Destruction.  All damage or injury done to the Premises by Tenant, or by 
Tenant’s employees, agents, invitees, or licensees shall be paid for by Tenant.  

18.1 Option to Repair. If the Premises are destroyed or damaged by fire or any other 
casualty to the extent that all or a part of the Premises is rendered untenantable, or if the 
uninsured cost of repairing the damage to the Premises exceeds $50,000, either Landlord or 
Tenant may terminate this Lease by notice in writing to the other within sixty (60) days after the 
destruction or damage. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord may, in Landlord’s sole 
discretion, agree in writing within thirty (30) days after the destruction to pay the uninsured 
portion of the cost of repair, in which case the Lease shall not terminate.  The notice shall be 
effective thirty (30) days after receipt. This provision shall not affect the Tenant’s duty to repair set 
forth in this Section 18, or elsewhere in this Lease. 

19. Hold Harmless and Indemnity.   

19.1 The Tenant shall indemnify, defend and hold the Landlord harmless from and 
against any and all claims, demands, cause of actions, suit or judgments, including attorney’s fees, 
costs and expenses incurred in connection therewith and in enforcing the indemnity, for deaths or 
injuries to persons or for loss of or damage to property arising out of or in connection with the 
negligent or wrongful acts of Tenant, its agents, employees, officers, guests, representatives and 
invitees, or the condition of the Premises (except for matters for which the Landlord is 



Commercial Lease Agreement 13 
4865-4839-6690, v. 2 
{PAF4865-4839-6690;2/23058.040050/} 

responsible), or the use and occupancy of the Premises by Tenant; or by Tenant’s non-observance 
or non-performance of any law, ordinance or regulation applicable to the Premises; or incurred in 
obtaining possession of the Premises after a default by the Tenant, or after the Tenant’s default in 
surrendering possession upon expiration or earlier termination of the term of the Lease, or 
enforcement of any covenants in this Lease; provided, however that this clause shall not apply in 
the event the loss or damage arises from the sole negligence of the Landlord.  This includes, 
without limitation, any liability for injury to the person or property of Tenant, its agents, officers, 
employees, or invitees.  The Tenant specifically waives any immunity provided by Washington’s 
Industrial Insurance Act.  This indemnification covers claims by Tenant’s own employees. 

19.2 In the event of any claims made to, or suits filed against Landlord, for which the 
above indemnity applies, Landlord shall give Tenant prompt written notice thereof and may 
demand that the Tenant defend or settle the same. 

19.3 Tenant, as a material part of the consideration to be tendered to Landlord, waives 
all claims against Landlord for (a) damages to goods, wares, and merchandise , in upon or about 
the Premises arising from any cause or condition, and (b) loss of business, expectancy or 
consequential damages arising from any reason, cause, or condition.   

20. Insurance.  

20.1 Tenant’s Property.  Tenant is responsible for insuring all property, personal 
property, inventory made or owned by Tenant. 

20.2 Minimum Scope and Limit of Insurance.  Tenant shall procure and maintain for the 
duration of the Lease insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property 
which may arise from or in connection with the Tenant’s operation and use of the Premises and 
common areas.  The cost of such insurance shall be borne by the Tenant, and coverage shall be at 
least as broad as:  

20.3 Commercial General Liability (CGL).  Insurance Services Office Form CG 00 01 
covering CGL on an “occurrence” basis, including products and completed operations, property 
damage, bodily injury and personal and advertising injury with limits no less than $1,000,000 per 
occurrence and a general aggregate limit of not less than $2,000,000.  If a general aggregate limit 
applies, either the general aggregate limit shall apply separately to this project/location (ISO CG 25 
03 or 25 04) or the general aggregate limit shall be twice the required occurrence limit. 

20.4 Property Insurance.  Property insurance against all risks of loss to any 
improvements or betterments to the full replacement cost with no coinsurance penalty provision. 

If the Tenant maintains broader coverage and/or higher limits than the minimums 
shown above, the Landlord requires and shall be entitled to broader coverage and/or higher 
limits maintained.  Any available insurance proceeds in excess of the specified minimum limits 
of insurance and coverage shall be available to the Landlord. 



Commercial Lease Agreement 14 
4865-4839-6690, v. 2 
{PAF4865-4839-6690;2/23058.040050/} 

20.5 Other Insurance Provisions.  The insurance policies are to contain, or be endorsed 
to contain, the following provisions: 

20.5.1 Additional Insured Status.  The Landlord, its officers, officials, employees, 
and volunteers are to be covered as additional insureds on the CGL policy with respect to 
liability arising out of work or operations performed by or on behalf of the Tenant, including 
materials, parts, or equipment furnished in connection with such work or operations.  General 
liability coverage can be provided in the form of an endorsement to the Tenant’s insurance (at 
least as broad as ISO Form CG 20 10.) 

20.5.2 Primary Coverage.  For any claims related to this Lease, the Tenant’s 
insurance coverage shall be primary insurance coverage at least as broad as ISO CG 20 01 04 13 
as respects the Landlord, its officers, officials, employees, or volunteers shall be excess of the 
Tenant’s insurance and shall not contribute with it.   

20.5.3 Notice of Cancellation.  Each insurance policy required above shall 
provide that coverage shall not be cancelled, except with notice to the Landlord. 

20.5.4 Waiver of Subrogation.  Tenant hereby grants to Landlord a waiver of 
any right to subrogation which any insurer of said Tenant may acquire against the Landlord by 
virtue of the payment of any loss under such insurance.  Tenant agrees to obtain any 
endorsement that may be necessary to affect this waiver of subrogation, but this provision 
applies regardless of whether or not the Landlord has received a waiver of subrogation 
endorsement from the insurer. 

20.5.5 Acceptability of Insurers.  Insurance is to be placed with insurers 
authorized to conduct business in the state with a current A.M. Best’s rating of no less than A: 
VII, unless otherwise acceptable to the Landlord. 

20.5.6 Verification of Coverage.  Tenant shall furnish the Landlord with original 
Certificates of Insurance including all required amendatory endorsements (or copies of the 
applicable policy language effecting coverage required by this clause) and a copy of the 
Declaration and Endorsement Page of the CGL policy listing all policy endorsements to 
Landlord.  However, failure to obtain the required documents prior to the work beginning shall 
not waive the Tenant's obligation to provide them. Landlord reserves the right to require 
complete, certified copies of all required insurance policies, including endorsements, required 
by these specifications, at any time. 

Landlord maintains an “all risk” or equivalent policy of property insurance for the 
Property.  The Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for the cost of such insurance consistent with 
Section Error! Reference source not found.. 
 

The Tenant agrees that if Tenant does not take out and maintain such insurance, 
Landlord may (but shall not be required to) procure such insurance on Tenants behalf and 



Commercial Lease Agreement 15 
4865-4839-6690, v. 2 
{PAF4865-4839-6690;2/23058.040050/} 

charge Tenant the premiums together with a twenty-five percent (25%) handling charge, 
payable upon demand. 
 

20.5.7 Special Risks or Circumstances.  Landlord reserves the right to modify 
these requirements at any time, including limits, based on the nature of the risk, prior 
experience, insurer, coverage, the passage of time, or other special circumstances. 

21. Presence and Use of Hazardous Substances.  Tenant shall refrain from causing or 
permitting any Hazardous Substance (as hereinafter defined) to be brought upon, kept or used 
in or about the Premises by Tenant, its agents, employees, contractors or invitees. “Hazardous 
Substance” means any hazardous or toxic substance, material or waste, including, but not 
limited to, those substances, materials, and wastes designated by the United States 
Environmental Protection Agency as Hazardous Substances (40 CFR Part 302) and amendments 
thereto, petroleum products, or other such substances, materials and wastes that are or 
become regulated under any applicable local, state, or federal law, regulation, statute or 
ordinance.  

21.1 Tenant’s Obligations.  With respect to any Hazardous Substance brought upon, 
kept or used in or about the Premises by Tenant, its agents, employees, contractors, or invitees, 
Tenant shall:  

21.1.1 Comply promptly, timely, and completely with all governmental 
requirements for reporting, keeping and submitting manifests, and obtaining and keeping current 
identification numbers;  

21.1.2 Within ten (10) days of Landlord’s request, submit written reports to 
Landlord regarding Tenant’s use, storage, treatment, transportation, generation, disposal or sale 
of Hazardous Substances and provide evidence reasonably satisfactory to Landlord of Tenant’s 
compliance with the applicable governmental regulation;   

21.1.3 Allow Landlord or Landlord’s agents or representatives to come on the 
Premises at all reasonable times, after reasonable notice, to check Tenant’s compliance with all 
applicable governmental regulations regarding Hazardous Substances;  

21.1.4 Comply with minimum levels, standards or other performance standards or 
requirements which may be set forth or established for certain Hazardous Substances (if minimum 
standards or levels are applicable to Hazardous Substances present on the Premises, these levels 
or standards shall be established by an on-site inspection by the appropriate governmental 
authorities and shall be set forth in an addendum to this Lease);  

21.1.5 Comply in all material respects with all governmental rules, regulations and 
requirements regarding the proper and lawful use, sale, transportation, generation, treatment and 
disposal of Hazardous Substances; and 



Commercial Lease Agreement 16 
4865-4839-6690, v. 2 
{PAF4865-4839-6690;2/23058.040050/} 

21.1.6 Landlord shall have the right, at reasonable times and upon reasonable 
notice to Tenant, to inspect the Premises to monitor Tenant’s compliance with this Section.  
Landlord shall pay and be responsible for the costs of its own inspection.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, if an inspection reveals the use or presence of Hazardous Substances requiring clean-up 
or other action that Tenant has not previously notified Landlord of, then Tenant shall pay, as part 
of the clean-up cost incorporated in Section 21.2 below, Landlord’s actual costs, including 
reasonable attorney’s fees and costs, incurred in making or providing for such inspection and any 
follow-up inspections.    

21.2 Indemnification for Hazardous Substances; Landlord’s Rights and Remedies. 

21.2.1 Tenant shall be fully and completely liable to Landlord for any and all clean-
up costs and any and all charges, fees, penalties (civil and criminal) imposed by any governmental 
authority with respect to Tenant’s use, disposal, transportation, generation and/or sale of 
Hazardous Substances, in or about the Premises.   

21.2.2 In addition to the indemnification set forth in Section 19, Tenant shall 
indemnify, defend, and hold Landlord harmless from any and all claims, judgments, damages, 
penalties, fines, costs, liabilities, or losses (including, without limitation, diminution in value of 
the Premises, damages for the loss or restriction on use of rentable or usable space or of any 
amenity of the Premises, and sums paid in settlement of claims, attorneys’ fees, consultant 
fees, and expert fees) which arise during or after the lease term as a result of contamination by 
Hazardous Substance as a result of Tenant’s use or activities, or of Tenant’s agents or 
contractors.  This indemnification of Landlord by Tenant includes, without limitation, costs 
incurred in connection with any investigation of site conditions or any cleanup, remedial, 
removal, or restoration work required by any federal, state, or local governmental agency or 
political subdivision because of Hazardous Substance present in the soil or ground water on or 
under the Premises.  Without limiting the foregoing, if the presence of any Hazardous 
Substance on the Premises caused or permitted by Tenant or its agents or contractors results in 
any contamination of the Premises, Tenant shall promptly take all actions, at its sole expense, 
as necessary to return the Premises to the condition existing prior to the release of any such 
Hazardous Substance to the Premises; provided that Landlord’s approval of such action shall 
first be obtained, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld so long as such actions 
would not potentially have any material adverse effects on the Premises.  The foregoing 
indemnity shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.  

21.3 Default Regarding Hazardous Substances.  Upon Tenant’s material default under 
this Section 21.3, in addition to the rights and remedies set forth elsewhere in this Lease, Landlord 
shall be entitled to the following rights and remedies: 

21.3.1 At Landlord’s option, to terminate this Lease immediately; and  

21.3.2 Recover any and all damage associated with the default, including, but not 
limited to clean-up costs and charges, civil and criminal penalties and fees, and any and all 
damages and claims asserted by third parties together with reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. 



Commercial Lease Agreement 17 
4865-4839-6690, v. 2 
{PAF4865-4839-6690;2/23058.040050/} 

22. Condemnation.  If the Premises are taken by any public authority under the power of 
eminent domain, this Lease shall terminate as of the date of possession by said public authority, 
subject to the terms of this Section 22.   

22.1 Partial Taking. A condemnation or taking by public authority shall not be grounds 
for terminating this Lease unless twenty-five percent (25%) or more of the Premises is taken. In the 
event of a partial taking which does not result in the termination of this Lease, rent shall be 
proportionately abated based on the amount of Premises made unusable. 

22.2 Award.  No award for any partial or entire taking shall be apportioned.  However, 
the Tenant will not be required to give or assign the Landlord any interest in any award made to 
the Tenant for the taking of personal property and fixtures belonging to the Tenant or for the 
interruption or damage to Tenant’s business or for relocation.  

23. No Right to Assign or Encumber.  The Tenant shall not assign, sublet, or encumber the 
Premises or any part thereof, without the Landlord’s prior written consent.   

24. Holdover.  If Tenant, with the implied or expressed consent of Landlord, shall holdover 
after the expiration of the term of this Lease, Tenant shall remain bound by all the terms and 
conditions of this Lease, except that the monthly rent shall be increased by twenty-five percent 
(25%) over the amount due the last month of the Lease, unless otherwise agreed by the Parties 
in writing. 

25. Brokerage Commission. Each party represents that they have incurred no finder’s fee, 
broker’s fees or commissions of similar obligation to any person in connection with the 
transaction which is the subject of this Agreement, and agree to indemnify the other and the 
other’s agents, representatives, and advisors and hold them harmless from any claims for any 
such fees or commissions and all costs and expenses for defending any alleged claim therefore 
(including costs and attorney’s fees on appeal, if any) arising out of the acts of the indemnifying 
party or its agents or employees.   

26. Successors and Assigns.  The covenants and conditions herein contained, including the 
provision as to assignments, apply to and bind the heirs, successors, executors, administrators 
and assigns of the parties hereto. 

27. Attorney’s Fees.  In the event it is necessary for either party to retain the services of an 
attorney to enforce the provisions of this contract, to pursue an unlawful detainer action, or in 
the event of litigation regarding the terms of this contract, the substantially prevailing party 
shall be entitled to recover from the other its costs and reasonable attorney’s fees in addition 
to other relief. 

28. TIME.  TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE IN THIS LEASE. 

29. Non-Waiver of Covenants.  The Landlord’s failure to insist upon the strict performance 
of any provision of this Lease shall not be construed as depriving the Landlord the right to insist 



Commercial Lease Agreement 18 
4865-4839-6690, v. 2 
{PAF4865-4839-6690;2/23058.040050/} 

on strict performance of such provision in the future.  The subsequent acceptance of rent, 
whether full or partial payment, by the Landlord shall not be deemed a waiver of any preceding 
breach by the Tenant of any term, covenant, or condition of this Lease, other than the failure of 
the Tenant to pay the particular part of the rent accepted, regardless of the Landlord’s 
knowledge of the proceeding breach at the time of the acceptance of that part of the rent. 

30. Savings.  Nothing in this Lease shall be construed so as to require the commission of any 
act contrary to law, and wherever there is any conflict between any provisions of this Lease and 
any statute, law, public regulation or ordinance, the latter shall prevail, but in such event, the 
provisions of this Lease affected shall be curtailed and limited only to the extent necessary to 
bring it within legal requirements. 

31. Incorporation.  This agreement represents the entire agreement of the parties.  Unless 
set forth herein in writing, neither party shall be bound by any statements or representations 
made and each agrees that there are no such statements or representations being relied upon 
in making this Lease.   

32. Governing Law.  This Lease shall be governed by the law of the State of Washington and 
venue for any action arising from this Lease shall be Chelan County, Washington. 

33. Amendment.  No alteration, changes or amendments to this Lease will be binding upon 
either party unless in a writing signed by both Parties.  

34. Notices. Any notices to be given hereunder shall be in writing and effective if personally 
served upon the other party or if mailed by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, 
to the addresses set forth next to the party’s signature. Notices mailed shall be deemed given on 
the date of mailing.   If any notice to Tenant is returned as undelivered/unclaimed, then ANY 
NOTICE HEREIN MAY BE PROVIDED BY LANDLORD AND SHALL BE DEEMED SERVED ON TENANT 
UPON POSTING THE NOTICE ON THE PREMISES. 

Notices shall be given to the following addresses, or such other addresses as the Parties may 
designate in writing to the other, in conformity with the terms of this Section 34: 

Landlord: 
Chelan Douglas Regional Port Authority 
Attn: Chief Executive Officer 
One Campbell Parkway, Suite A 
East Wenatchee, WA 98802 

Tenant: 
CMI Orchards, Inc. 
Attn:                           
                               
                               
 



Commercial Lease Agreement 19 
4865-4839-6690, v. 2 
{PAF4865-4839-6690;2/23058.040050/} 

In witness whereof, the Parties have executed this Lease to be effective the date first written 
above. 

LANDLORD:      TENANT: 

CHELAN DOUGLAS REGIONAL PORT AUTHORITY CMI ORCHARDS, INC. 
 
 
By:   By:   
 James M. Kuntz, Chief Executive Officer   
   Name:  
 
   Title:  



Commercial Lease Agreement 20 
4865-4839-6690, v. 2 
{PAF4865-4839-6690;2/23058.040050/} 

STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 
    )ss. 
County of    ) 
 
 I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that James M. Kuntz is the person who 
appeared before me, and said person acknowledged that he signed this instrument, on oath 
stated that he was authorized to execute the instrument and acknowledged it as the Chief 
Executive Officer of Chelan Douglas Regional Port Authority to be the free and voluntary act of 
such party for the uses and purposes mentioned in the instrument. 
 
 Dated:  ____________________, 2023. 
 
 
   
   (Printed name) 
 NOTARY PUBLIC, state of Washington 
 My appointment expires   
 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 
    )ss. 
County of    ) 
 
 I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that                           
the person who appeared before me, and said person acknowledged that he signed this 
instrument on oath stated that he was authorized to execute the instrument and acknowledged 
it as the                           of CMI Orchards, Inc. to be the free and voluntary act of 
such party for the uses and purposes mentioned in the instrument. 
 
 Dated:  ____________________, 2023. 
 
 
   
   (Printed name) 
 NOTARY PUBLIC, state of Washington 
 My appointment expires   



Commercial Lease Agreement 21 
4865-4839-6690, v. 2 
{PAF4865-4839-6690;2/23058.040050/} 

EXHIBIT “A” 
Legal Description of Property 

 

 



Commercial Lease Agreement 22 
4865-4839-6690, v. 2 
{PAF4865-4839-6690;2/23058.040050/} 

EXHIBIT “B” 
Depiction of Premises  

 



Commercial Lease Agreement 23 
4865-4839-6690, v. 2 
{PAF4865-4839-6690;2/23058.040050/} 

EXHIBIT C 
General Description of Landlord’s Improvements  

 
 
Install drop ceiling 
Drywall exterior walls 
Frame/drywall offices 
Frame/drywall Conference Room 
Frame/drywall Kitchen/Break Room 
Carpet 
Paint 
Lighting Package 
Electrical Package  
HVAC for Premises 
Evaluate feasibility of expanding Bathrooms 
 



 

 
Memo 
To: Board of Directors       

From: 
 
Jim Kuntz 

Date: December 13, 2023 

Re: 
 
Legal Counsel – 2024 Hourly Rates 

The current hourly rate for Regional Port Legal Counsel work is $310 
per hour. I am proposing a 3.9% adjustment for 2024 to $322 per hour.  

Please note our public agency rate is discounted. Private sector legal 
work in the greater Wenatchee area can exceed $400 per hour. 

A portion of the Regional Port’s legal fees are now being reimbursed 
by the businesses we are assisting. As an example, Microsoft 
reimburses the Regional Port for all legal fees related to the 
infrastructure work in Malaga.  

In those unique circumstances where the Regional Port has a 
“Reimbursement Agreement” in place with a private business that 
includes reimbursement for legal fees, I believe our legal counsel 
should be able to charge their private sector rate.  

 



C:\Users\brooke\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\INetCache\Content.Outlook\UVHG10GL\Memo - 
USFS Carpet Replacement.docx 

 
Memo 
To:  Board of Directors 

From: Ron Russ 

Date:  December 14, 2023 

Re: Authorization to Award Contract for USFS Building Carpet 
Replacement 

Pursuant to the requirements of the USFS lease for the CWICC/Rappel 
Base facility, the CDRPA must replace all the carpet in the facility 
every 10 years.  The carpet in the dispatch area was replaced in 2022. 
The approved 2024 capital budget included $95,000 to replace the 
balance of the carpet and the hard surface flooring in two small 
rooms. 

Staff have solicited bids from qualified contractors on the CDRPA’s 
Small Works Roster and have received two responsive and 
responsible bids.  The low bidder is Standard Paint and Flooring. 

Staff request board authorization to award a small public works 
contract to Standard Paint and Flooring for $56,004.27, including 
WSST and to establish an overall project budget of $65,000. 

CDRPA maintenance personnel will be painting most of the interior 
concurrent with the flooring project. 



Bidder Name

City, State
Item 1 Item 2

Sales Tax 

(8.3%)
Total Bid

Standard Paint & Flooring

Wenatchee, WA $42,283.56 $9,428.60 $4,292.11 $56,004.27

The Floor Factory

Wenatchee, WA $43,156.15 $11,878.10 $4,567.84 $59,602.09

$0.00 $0.00

$0.00 $0.00

BID TABULATION

Project: USFS Building Carpet Replacement

Bid Due: December 14, 2023  at 10:00 am

Project Location: 3796 Airport Way, East Wenatchee, WA

Contract #: 2023-65                          Opened By:  Ron Russs	                        Recorded By:  Laura Camarillo Reyes

Disclaimer: Bid tabulation is considered preliminary and subject to change until the CDRPA awards a contract to the low, responsive bidder































TECHNICAL
MEMORANDUM

12/12/2023 2:44 PM \\corp.rh2.com\Projects\Project\Data\RPA\20-0026-17\10 Reports\Well 6 long term test\Test Well 1 Long Term Test Results.docx

Background
This technical memorandum documents the results of a long-term constant rate pump test
conducted on the 12-inch-diameter Test Well No. 1 (TW1; Unique Well Tag ID BPT 103) for the
Chelan Douglas Regional Port Authority (Port). This well is part of a series of water system
improvement projects for the Malaga Water District (MWD) started in 2022 to support the
construction of several data centers by Microsoft Corporation (MSFT). Short-term well testing
conducted by Empire Well Drilling in May 2023 revealed an apparent transmissivity of
610,000 gallons per day per foot (gpd/ft) based on pumping at 1,200 gallons per minute (gpm)
with 3.4 feet of drawdown (RH2, 2023). However, due to a physical limitation of the disposal
area to accept water, the well could only be pumped for 3 hours. Based on the positive results
of the short-term test, a long-term test was planned for later in the year to further stress the
underlying aquifer and attempt to identify potential boundary conditions.

To facilitate aquifer parameter measurements during the subsequent long-term constant rate
test, a 2-inch-diameter monitoring well (Unique Well Tag ID BPT 102) was installed 100 feet
north of TW1. The location is intended to be between TW1 and the nearest non-MWD-owned
wells, with the intent that potential impairment concerns should be fully captured.

Constant Rate Test
The pump test was intended to run continuously for 10 days at 1,200 gpm. This duration is
longer than industry standards with the intent that the potentially limiting aquifer boundary
conditions should be revealed. The contract required redundant flow metering and frequent
water level measurement throughout the test period.

The Port contracted with Selland Construction (Selland) to perform this long-term constant rate
test. The test included over 6,000 feet of 10-inch-diameter, above-grade, lay-flat pipe installed
primarily along the County right-of-way to convey water from TW1 and discharge that water
into Meadow Lake, approximately 1 mile south of TW1. The discharge structure in the lake
included two well screens to dissipate energy and prevent erosion of the lake shore and bed.

Client: Chelan Douglas Regional Port Authority

Project: Local Water System Improvements to LOJO Property

Project File: RPA 0200026.17.0300

Project Manager: Erik Howe, PE

Composed by: Adam Neff, LHG

Reviewed by: Andrew B. Dunn, LHG; Ryan Peterson, PE

Subject: Test Well No. 1 Long-Term Test Results

Date: December 12, 2023
Signed: 12/12/2023

PRELIM
IN

ARY



Chelan Douglas Regional Port Authority December 12, 2023
Test Well No. 1 Long-Term Test Results Page 2

12/12/2023 2:44 PM \\corp.rh2.com\Projects\Project\Data\RPA\20-0026-17\10 Reports\Well 6 long term test\Test Well 1 Long Term Test Results.docx

Irrigation Technology & Control (ITC) was the pump subcontractor. ITC installed a
125-horsepower (hp) vertical line shaft turbine pump and motor powered by a diesel generator
and controlled by a variable frequency drive. An inline check valve was installed directly
downstream from the pump discharge head. Two external strap-on sonic flow meters
(SoundWater Cypress Ultrasonic) were used for redundancy. They were off set approximately
6 feet along the pipe and 180 degrees radially. These meters were verified to be accurate
(Appendix A).

Testing
Testing started at 9:20 a.m. on November 8, 2023. The pumping rate was incrementally
increased, starting at 400 gpm, then 600 gpm, then 800 gpm as the discharge pipe filled finally
reaching approximately 1,200 gpm at 9:55 a.m. The test continued at a constant rate until
9:10 a.m. on November 12th, at which point the generator shut down due to a high fuel level
alarm. Selland was able to resolve the alarm issue and restart the pump that same day at
12:46 p.m. The test continued until the pump shut down again at 6:24 a.m. on November 16th

due to the same high fuel alarm issue. The pump was restarted over an hour later at 7:32 a.m.
Selland attempted to troubleshoot the high fuel alarm issue that same day, resulting in an
additional short shutdown between 2:13 and 2:33 p.m. The test was continued beyond the
initially identified 10 days due to these various stoppages. Ultimately, testing was stopped at
2:27 p.m. on November 20th due to concerns of the rising water level in Meadow Lake from the
managing irrigation district.

Pumping Well Results
Static water level measurements prior to pumping indicated that the potentiometric surface
was 129.11 feet below the top of the well casing, which is 3 feet above ground surface, or
approximately 617.89 feet elevation (static water level). The ground elevation at the wellhead
was assumed to be 744 ft (Google Earth); this value should be verified in the future. Water
levels were monitored via a pressure transducer data logger set to record measurements every
minute and was provided by the Contractor. The transducer was calibrated to a precision of
approximately 0.1 feet.

The water level responded immediately to the increased flow rate as the pump was turned on
and increased to 1,200 gpm. The results in Charts 1, 2, and 3 show there may be some noise in
the data, fluctuations in both the water level and flow rate, which are typical at these flow
rates.

PRELIM
IN

ARY



Chelan Douglas Regional Port Authority December 12, 2023
Test Well No. 1 Long-Term Test Results Page 3

12/12/2023 2:44 PM \\corp.rh2.com\Projects\Project\Data\RPA\20-0026-17\10 Reports\Well 6 long term test\Test Well 1 Long Term Test Results.docx

Chart 1
TW1 Water Levels – Initial Drawdown

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200129.0

129.5

130.0

130.5

131.0

131.5

132.0

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90

Pu
m

pi
ng

 R
at

e 
(g

pm
)

De
pt

h 
to

 W
at

er
 (f

t)

Test Duration (Min)

TW 1 Constant Rate Test
Initial Draw Down

Depth to Water (ft) Pumping Rate (Flow Meter #1)

PRELIM
IN

ARY



Chelan Douglas Regional Port Authority December 12, 2023
Test Well No. 1 Long-Term Test Results Page 4

12/12/2023 2:44 PM \\corp.rh2.com\Projects\Project\Data\RPA\20-0026-17\10 Reports\Well 6 long term test\Test Well 1 Long Term Test Results.docx

Chart 2
TW1 Water Levels – Summary

Once 1,200 gpm was reached, the pumping water level showed a drawdown of 2.75 feet that
varied by less than 0.5 feet over the duration of the test. The trend observed is indicative of an
aquifer that is hydraulically connected to a recharge boundary (Columbia River). The
fluctuations observed suggest there are other factors contributing to the aquifer water level
beyond the TW1 pumping rate.

The water level was compared to the operation of MWD Well No. 5, located approximately
700 feet to the east. There was no apparent correlation between MWD Well No. 5 pumping
rate/frequency and the water level in TW1. However, there appears to be influence from the
operations of the Rock Island pool of the Columbia River (Chelan County Public Utility District;
PUD). This correlation is best seen in the monitoring well water level (Chart 4).

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

129.00

129.50

130.00

130.50

131.00

131.50

132.00

132.50

0 24 48 72 96 120 144 168 192 216 240 264 288

Fl
ow

 R
at

e 
(g

pm
)

De
pt

h 
to

 W
at

er
 (f

t)

Test Duration (Hours)

TW1
Constant Rate Test

Depth to Water (15-min Avg) Flow Meter # 1

Static Water Level
End of Test

Pump Off

Static Water Level
Start of Test

Pump Off

Pump Off

PRELIM
IN

ARY



Chelan Douglas Regional Port Authority December 12, 2023
Test Well No. 1 Long-Term Test Results Page 5

12/12/2023 2:44 PM \\corp.rh2.com\Projects\Project\Data\RPA\20-0026-17\10 Reports\Well 6 long term test\Test Well 1 Long Term Test Results.docx

Chart 3
TW1 Water Levels – Recovery

TW1 mostly recovered in 1 minute, with complete recovery in less than 5 minutes. This is
consistent with the initial drawdown observations.

Monitoring Well Results
The water level was initially collected via hand measurements using an electronic well sounder.
A pressure transducer was installed approximately 4 hours after the start of the pump test. The
transducer was set to record measurements every 10 minutes with a precision of 0.0014 feet.

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600128.5

129.0

129.5

130.0

130.5

131.0

131.5

132.0

132.5

17,590 17,595 17,600 17,605 17,610

Te
st

 F
lo

w
 R

at
e 

(G
PM

)

W
at

er
 Le

ve
l (

ft
)

Test Duration (Min)

TW1 Constant Rate Test
Recovery

Depth to Water (ft) Flow Meter # 1

PRELIM
IN

ARY



Chelan Douglas Regional Port Authority December 12, 2023
Test Well No. 1 Long-Term Test Results Page 6

12/12/2023 2:44 PM \\corp.rh2.com\Projects\Project\Data\RPA\20-0026-17\10 Reports\Well 6 long term test\Test Well 1 Long Term Test Results.docx

Chart 4
Monitoring Well Water Levels

Because the monitoring well is not subject to active pumping, and because the equipment
installed allowed for more precise measurements, the aquifer’s response to pumping is more
apparent. All three periods when the pump was off are obvious due to the rapid water level
response (recovery). Recovery appears to be fast, but not as fast as the pumping well, implying
some artificial recharge (e.g., leakage back down the pump column) impacting TW1.

There is another signal that also is impacting the water level. Comparing the starts and stops of
MWD Well No. 5, there is no noticeable correlation. However, there is a correlation with the
Columbia River surface elevation after applying a 5-hour lag to the data (Chelan County PUD
Hydropark boat ramp river gauge). This supports the hydraulic connection of the aquifer to the
Columbia River, which represents a recharge boundary condition.

610

611

612

613

614

615

616

617

618

619

614.75

614.80

614.85

614.90

614.95

615.00

615.05

615.10

615.15

615.20

11/8 11/9 11/10 11/11 11/12 11/13 11/14 11/15 11/16 11/17 11/18 11/19 11/20 11/21 11/22

Co
lu

m
bi

a 
Ri

ve
r E

le
va

tio
n 

(ft
)

W
at

er
 S

ur
fa

ce
 E

le
va

tio
n 

(ft
)

TW1 Constant Rate Testing
Monitoring Well Water Surface Elevation

Water Elev (ft) Columbia River - Hydro Park (5 hr lag)

Test Startup

Increased to
1,200 gpm

Pump Off

Pump Off

Test Over

Pump Off

Static Water Level

PRELIM
IN

ARY



Chelan Douglas Regional Port Authority December 12, 2023
Test Well No. 1 Long-Term Test Results Page 7

12/12/2023 2:44 PM \\corp.rh2.com\Projects\Project\Data\RPA\20-0026-17\10 Reports\Well 6 long term test\Test Well 1 Long Term Test Results.docx

Chart 5
Monitoring Well Recovery Levels

The monitoring well recovery data shows two trends. The initial recovery period between
0 to 200 minutes has one recovery trend (blue), while the 200-to-900-minute period has a
steeper and more aggressive recovery trend (red). It is unclear what is causing this change in
recovery pattern.

This recovery data can be used to determine both aquifer transmissivity and storage coefficient.
Using the above time-recovery plot and the equations presented in Groundwater and Wells
(Driscoll, 1986), two sets of aquifer properties can be estimated based on the two trends
graphed based on the equations that follow.

Transmissivity (T) = (264 * Q)/∆s

Where:

Q = 1,200 gpm;

∆s (Blue Trend) = Recovery over a logarithmic cycle; 0.07-0.038 = 0.032 feet;

∆s (Red Trend) = Recovery over a logarithmic cycle; 0.17-0.04 = 0.13 feet;

T (Blue) = 9,900,000 gpd/ft; and

T (Red) = 2,440,000 gpd/ft.

PRELIM
IN

ARY



Chelan Douglas Regional Port Authority December 12, 2023
Test Well No. 1 Long-Term Test Results Page 8

12/12/2023 2:44 PM \\corp.rh2.com\Projects\Project\Data\RPA\20-0026-17\10 Reports\Well 6 long term test\Test Well 1 Long Term Test Results.docx

Storativity (S) =  (0.3 * T * t’0)/r2

Where:

T = Transmissivity (above);

t’0 = Time when recovery projects to hit zero; 0.8 min (Blue trendline); 50 min (Red
trendline);

r = 100 feet;

S (Blue) = 0.165; and

S (Red) = 2.5 (not physically possible1).

These values can then be applied to the Cooper-Jacobs solution to the Theis equation to verify
if the aquifer parameters estimate a similar drawdown pattern to that observed during the test.
Using a storage coefficient of 0.165 and both the 9,900,000 gpd/ft and 2,440,000 gpd/ft
transmissivity, it is expected to see drawdown within the monitoring well range from 0.14 to
0.44 feet. An actual drawdown range of 0.12 to 0.37 feet was observed, with fluctuations
attributed to the connection to the Columbia River.

However, in both cases (two transmissivities), the drawdown within TW1 should have been
0.29 to 1.08 feet with 100-percent efficient screen, not the 3.5 feet observed. The additional
2.5 feet likely are due to friction losses at the screen.

McFann Well
The nearest non-MWD well, owned by the McFanns, was periodically monitored during the
pump test. It is a 6-inch exempt well drilled in 1983 to supply water to the McFann household
and a minor amount of outdoor irrigation. It was completed to 67 feet below the existing
ground surface, which is similar to the ground surface at TW1, within sands and gravels. This
well also was monitored during the short-term step test. Results from the step test showed that
the water level in the McFann Well is independent of pumping TW1, which is supported by the
geological evidence found during drilling of TW1 (Chart 6). The McFann Well is completed to a
depth of 66 feet with a static water level of approximately 698 feet. The lithology of TW1
described in the Technical Memorandum: Test Well No. 1 Completion Summary (RH2, 2023),
shows an approximately 17-foot-thick clay layer (between 637 feet and 654 feet) between the
apparent base of the aquifer tapped by the McFann Well and the aquifer TW1 withdraws from
(502 feet to 601 feet).

1 The storage coefficient in an unconfined aquifer is the portion of the volume of an aquifer that can be drained due to a
decrease in hydraulic head and roughly approximates the porosity of the aquifer.

PRELIM
IN

ARY



Chelan Douglas Regional Port Authority December 12, 2023
Test Well No. 1 Long-Term Test Results Page 9

12/12/2023 2:44 PM \\corp.rh2.com\Projects\Project\Data\RPA\20-0026-17\10 Reports\Well 6 long term test\Test Well 1 Long Term Test Results.docx

Chart 6
McFann Well Water Levels

Results from the constant rate test support the findings from the step test that the McFann
Well is located within a different (higher) aquifer.

Water Quality Results
Water samples were collected at the end of both the short-term step test as well as the long-
term constant rate test and ran for the suite of analytes required for a new municipal water
source. The results were below detection limits, except for those presented in Table 1. The
11/21/2023 results are not yet available. Complete water quality results are provided in
Appendix A.

697.45

697.5

697.55

697.6

697.65

697.7

697.75

697.8

697.85

0 2,000 4,000 6,000 8,000 10,000 12,000 14,000

W
at

er
 E

le
va

tio
n 

(ft
)

Test Duration (min)

TW 1 Constant Rate Test
Water Level McFann Well

PRELIM
IN

ARY



Chelan Douglas Regional Port Authority December 12, 2023
Test Well No. 1 Long-Term Test Results Page 10

12/12/2023 2:44 PM \\corp.rh2.com\Projects\Project\Data\RPA\20-0026-17\10 Reports\Well 6 long term test\Test Well 1 Long Term Test Results.docx

Table 1
Water Quality Results

Analyte 5/22/2023 Result 11/21/2023 Result
Maximum

Contaminant Level

Radium 228 0.829 pCi/L 5 pCi/L
Iron 0.257 mg/L 0.3 mg/L
Barium 0.0654 mg/L 2 mg/L
Fluoride 0.145 mg/L 4 mg/L
Nitrate-N 2.71 mg/L 10 mg/L
Total Nitrite/Nitrate 2.61 mg/L 10 mg/L
Manganese 0.00141 mg/L 0.05 mg/L
Chloride 21.9 mg/L 250 mg/L
Sulfate 52.6 mg/L 250 mg/L
Zinc 0.00953 mg/L 5 mg/L
Copper 0.00116 mg/L 1.3 mg/L
Total Dissolved
Solids

480 mg/L 500 mg/L

Hardness 274 mg CaCO3/L --
Conductivity 748 μmhos/cm 700 μmhos/cm

pCi/L = picocuries per liter
mg/L = milligrams per liter
CaCO3/L = calcium carbonate per liter

Preliminary Pump Sizing
Specific pump sizing will be performed during the production well design. Assuming a 10-inch
(nominal) impellor bowl, a speed of 1,780 rotations per minute, and a review of pump curves
from multiple pump brands, the maximum capacity may be up to 1,500 gpm at approximately
470 feet of lift, requiring up to a 250 hp motor. Higher speed pumps can produce more flow but
at dramatically lower mechanical life expectancy.

Conclusions
Based on the data collected and analysis performed, TW1 appears to be completed within a
productive, unconfined aquifer that is hydraulically connected to the Columbia River.

The specific capacity of the well, which represents the approximate amount of water that can
be withdrawn from the well with each additional foot of drawdown, is 440 gpm/feet.

No evidence of the aquifer being bounded was observed during this testing.

The pump intake should be placed near the top of the screen at a depth of approximately
185 feet below the top of the casing to maximize available drawdown.

The maximum design rate of the screen, assuming the industry standard entrance velocity of
0.1 foot per second, is 3,200 gpm. Pumping above this rate is not advised. Frictional losses may
increase the realized drawdown within the well enough to prevent this theoretical withdrawal
rate.

PRELIM
IN

ARY



Chelan Douglas Regional Port Authority December 12, 2023
Test Well No. 1 Long-Term Test Results Page 11

12/12/2023 2:44 PM \\corp.rh2.com\Projects\Project\Data\RPA\20-0026-17\10 Reports\Well 6 long term test\Test Well 1 Long Term Test Results.docx

The lack of significant drawdown within the monitoring well located 100 feet away indicates
there should be no impairment to other water users tapping this same aquifer. For water users
within the upper aquifer, the water level data from the McFann Well collected during the TW1
pumping test shows that pumping TW1 had no effects on the upper aquifer.

Attachments
1. Appendix A – Flow Meter Accuracy Evaluation
2. Appendix B – Water Quality Reports
3. Appendix C – Well Logs

PRELIM
IN

ARY



Chelan Douglas Regional Port Authority December 12, 2023
Test Well No. 1 Long-Term Test Results Page 12

12/12/2023 2:44 PM \\corp.rh2.com\Projects\Project\Data\RPA\20-0026-17\10 Reports\Well 6 long term test\Test Well 1 Long Term Test Results.docx

References
Driscoll, F.G. (1986). Groundwater and Wells. Johnson Division.

Gresens, R. L. (1983). Geology of the Wenatchee and Monitor Quadrangles, Chelan and Douglas
Counties, Washington. Washington State Department of Natural Resources (DNR),
Division of Geology and Earth Resources. Bulletin 75.

RH2 Engineering, Inc. (2023). Technical memorandum: Test Well No. 1 Completion Summary.

Tabor, et al. (1982). Geologic map of the Wenatchee 1:100,000 Quadrangle, Central
Washington. Prepared for the United States Geological Survey (USGS) Miscellaneous
Investigations Series MAP I-1311.

PRELIM
IN

ARY



 

 

Appendices 

PRELIM
IN

ARY



 

 

Appendix A 
Flow Meter Accuracy Evaluation 

PRELIM
IN

ARY



Malaga Long Term Well Test 1

Flow Meter Accuracy Evalua on

Ryan Peterson, PE

Two iden cal SoundWater Cypress Ultrasonic flow meters were used during the long-term test. The flow
meters were mounted on opposing sides of the 10-inch steel discharge pipe, approximately 2 feet from
each other, and approximately 10 to 15 feet downstream of the pump head. The flow meter
manufacturer recommends straight pipe at least 15 pipe diameters upstream and 5 pipe diameters
downstream. A bu erfly valve is approximate 4 to 6 feet downstream of the meters. These lengths are
es mated from photos, see Figure 1. The flow meters appear to have been installed as recommended.

Figure 1

On November 9th, RH2 Engineering read the flow meter screen during the test to check se ngs. The
4.65 feet per second velocity and 1,196 gpm flow shown on the screen correlate to a pipe inside
diameter of 10.25-inches, which is the dimension of 10-inch schedule 20 steel pipe.

With the pump running at full speed, the flow meter readings averaged within 1.5-percent of each other
over 12 days. Readings for the ini al flow ramp-up are shown on Figure 2.

PRELIM
IN

ARY



Figure 2

Readings for the test dura on are shown on Figure 3.

Figure 3

To evaluate if the flow meters are reading correctly, on November 21st RH2 performed tests to compare
predic ons to field readings. The variable frequency drive (VFD) frequency output and pipe discharge
pressure were predicted by calcula ng at varying flow rates. The VFD in the field was then set at five
different points with the resul ng flow and pressure measured. Pressure was measured just downstream

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

9:00 AM 9:15 AM 9:30 AM 9:45 AM 10:00 AM 10:15 AM 10:30 AM

G
al

lo
ns

 p
er

 M
in

ut
e

Flow Meter 1 Flow Meter 2

1,100

1,120

1,140

1,160

1,180

1,200

1,220

1,240

1,260

1,280

1,300

11/8/23 11/10/23 11/12/23 11/14/23 11/16/23 11/18/23 11/20/23 11/22/23

G
al

lo
ns

 p
er

 M
in

ut
e

Flow Meter 1 Flow Meter 2

PRELIM
IN

ARY



of the flow meters and prior to the bu erfly valve using a pressure gauge provided by RH2. Figure 3
shows the comparison of the predic ons to the field measurements. The results are within the accuracy
expected of the equipment. Based on these results, RH2 considers the flow meters to have reasonable
accuracy.

Figure 4

40

45

50

55

60

65

70

75

80

0 200 400 600 800 1,000 1,200 1,400VF
D 

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y 
(H

z)
 a

nd
 D

isc
ha

rg
e 

Pr
es

su
re

 (p
si)

Flow (gpm)

Test Well 1 Predictions and Readings

Predicted VFD Hz Field VFD Hz Predicted psi Field psi

PRELIM
IN

ARY



 

 

Appendix B 
Water Quality Reports 

PRELIM
IN

ARY



 

 

Appendix C 
Well Logs 

 

PRELIM
IN

ARY



PRELIM
IN

ARY

aneff
Text Box
TW1



PRELIM
IN

ARY

aneff
Text Box
Monitoring well



PRELIM
IN

ARY

aneff
Text Box
McFann Well







































Chelan airport to undergo an Environmental Assessment for proposed expansion 

December 11, 2023 

by Richard Uhlhorn 

The current Chelan Airport is being considered for a major expansion project that will allow 
larger aircraft to land and to correct a number of safety issues. (File photo by Richard Uhlhorn) 

The City of Chelan held two meetings (December 5 and 6) to update the progress J.U.B. Engineers 
has made on the proposed Chelan Airport expansion project slated to commence construction in 
2027 upon approvals by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA). 

J.U.B is in the process of conducting an Environmental Assessment (EA). Currently the existing 
airport has a number of safety issues that need correction. A draft EA is expected to be completed 
by the summer of 2024 with a final delivered in the Fall. The Draft EA will be sent out to the general 
public with a 30-day comment period. 

The FAA has already approved expanding the airport runway to 4,400 feet and when 116 acres of 
land is acquired an FAA grant totaling $24 million dollars would be available. The State would add 
$500,000 and both the Chelan and Port of Chelan County would added another $500,000 split 
between them. 

https://allthingslakechelan.blog/2023/12/11/chelan-airport-to-undergo-an-environmental-assessment-for-proposed-expansion/


Mark Napier – J.U.B Engineer’s consultant for the Chelan Airport expansion project. 

“We will hold an Open House to hopefully select an airport (expansion) design of 3,500 feet or 
4,400 feet,” Mark Napier – J.U.B. Engineers, told a large audience of property owners and hanger 
owners surrounding the airport. “There is enough traffic to justify a 4,400 foot long runway,” he 
added. 

The acquisition of property will take place after a determination of value has been accomplished by 
a certified appraiser. His/her work will be checked by another appraiser after which offers and 
negotiations with property owners will commence. 



The expansion, when concluded, will allow larger aircraft like 10 person Cessna Citations to land at 
the Chelan Airport. This could lead to more business, recreational and medical flights using the 
airport. 

A number of concerned property owners surrounding the airport showed up at 9 a.m. meeting 
in the Chelan Airport Lounge to see a presentation on the proposed airport expansion and to 
ask questions regarding the 116 acres that will be acquired. 

One person remarked that adding 115 flights to Chelan for the $24 million expansion “was not a 
whole lot of bang for our buck.” 

The economic impacts are also in question at this early stage. At the Tuesday, December 5, City 
Workshop, Councilman Tim Hollingsworth asked if there was or will be a cost-benefit analysis 
conducted? Wade Farris – city administrator replied that the expansion would impact tourism and it 
was time to look into the future. Councilman John Olson added that if the Colville Confederated 
Tribes go forward with their plans to build a 400 to 500 unit Hotel/Casino in Manson, it would 
definitely increase air traffic. 



Trent Moyers, director of airports from Pangborn Airport was also on hand at both meetings to 
answer questions. 

Teresa Ferrell-Pascoe remarked that it was a lot of money. “It is not going to benefit everyone in the 
Valley,” she said. Another property owner added that people have concerns on how these decisions 
are made. “I would like to be informed. That’s not too much to ask.” 

One of the orchardists stated that farmers don’t look at land, “We look 20 years down the road.” He 
then suggested that they rezone the property to commercial so they can recover some of their 
losses from the expansion. 

Trent Moyers, director of airports from Pangborn stated that the FAA has its own environmental 
team to help the project move forward. 

Hollingsworth asked the big question for the community. “How valuable is our airport to our 
community.” 

It’s a question that will be answered down the road when the draft EA is finished this coming 
summer and J.U.B Engineers holds an Open House on the subject of expansion for the entire 
community to weigh in. 

 



Tenant Building or Land SQFT or Acres Starting Term Base Rent/Month

R Shack 

BBQ & Catering
Pangborn Restaurant 2,175 sq ft 11/1/2023 11/1/2023 - 10/31/2024 $360.50

Renewal Signed Tenant Building or Land SQFT or Acres Term Base Rent/Month

11/6/2023 Mike & Sherri Nevers 

Orchard/Shed

Parcel # 

22211530017

3 Acres 1/1/2024 - 12/31/2024 $3,914.31 Annually

Tenant Building or Land SQFT or Acres Ending

Tenants Moving Out

Base Rent/Month

Executive Director's Authority to Sign Leases

Chelan Douglas Regional Port Authority - Lease Report

Leases & Renewals - Reporting Period NOVEMBER 2023  | CDRPA Related 

Meeting: DECEMBER 19, 2023

 

New Leases 

Lease Renewals

None Reported for this Period

Lease terms of five years duration or less.

Lease payments of $5,000 per month or less.



Tenant Building or Land SQFT or Acres Starting Term Base Rent/Month

Renewal Signed Tenant Building or Land SQFT or Acres Term Base Rent/Month

Tenant Building or Land SQFT or Acres Ending

Chelan Douglas Regional Port Authority - Lease Report

Leases & Renewals - Reporting Period NOVEMBER 2023  |  CTC Related 

Meeting: DECEMBER 19, 2023

 

New Leases 

None Reported for this Period

None Reported for this Period

None Reported for this Period

Lease terms of five years duration or less.

Lease payments of $5,000 per month or less.

Tenants Moving Out

Base Rent/Month

Executive Director's Authority to Sign Leases

Lease Renewals



Tenant Building or Land SQFT or Acres Starting Term Base Rent/Month

Renewal Signed Tenant Building or Land SQFT or Acres Term Base Rent/Month

Tenant Building or Land SQFT or Acres Ending

Chelan Douglas Regional Port Authority - Lease Report

Leases & Renewals - Reporting Period NOVEMBER 2023  | AVIATION Related 

Meeting: DECEMBER 19, 2023

 

New Leases 

None Reported for this Period

None Reported for this Period

None Reported for this Period

Executive Director's Authority to Sign Leases

Lease terms of five years duration or less.

Lease payments of $5,000 per month or less.

Lease Renewals

Base Rent/Month

Tenants Moving Out



SQFT or Acres

1070 sq ft

$25 per sq ft 2023

$26 per sq ft 2024

290 sq ft

$25 per sq ft 2023

$26 per sq ft 2024

319 sq ft

$25 per sq ft 2023

$26 per sq ft 2024

138 sq ft

$25 per sq ft 2023

$26 per sq ft 2024

9,240 sq ft

$14 per sq ft 2023

20,155 sq ft

$28 per sq ft 2023

3,056 sq ft 

7,200 sq ft 
Kelly Property Barn

Chelan, WA 
Barn 

Space Available Details 

Chelan Douglas Regional Port Authority

Current Available Space for Lease

Meeting: December, 19 2023

 

Current Available Space for Lease

CTC South

Suite #108
Unfurnished & Windowless 

CTC

Suite #133 
Unfurnished

CTC

Suite #110
Furnished with TWO work-stations 

CTC South 

Suite #103
Unfurnished

CTC

Suite LL2 

CTC

Third Floor 

Unfurnished / TI Needed 

"Pending Lease"

Unfurnished / TI Needed

Cashmere Mill District 

Building B
Demising wall may be needed 



SQFT or Acres

126 sq ft

$25 per sq ft 2023

$26 per sq ft 2024

9,430 sq ft

$14 per sq ft 2023

9,855 sq ft

$28 per sq ft 2023

38,119 sq ft 

8,810 sq ft

$28 per sq ft 2023

CTC

Suite #201
“Temporary CMI and CDRPA Office”

Chelan Douglas Regional Port Authority

Space Available Soon for Lease 

Meeting: December 19, 2023

 

Current Available Space for Lease

Space Available Details 

Note: :  For CTC Spaces, if less than the full floor is leased a building load factor of 13% will be added to the square feet. 

CTC

Suite #202
"Future CDRPA Admin Office"

IB-5
Available

March 1, 2024

CTC – South

Suite #107

Available

Mid-November 2023

Unfurnished 

Available

March 1, 2024

Unfurnished

CTC

Suite LL1



20-Feb
All Day President's Day - Office Closed CDRPA Staff 

Date: Time: Event: Attending: 

19-Dec 12:00pm WVCC Board Meeting Commissioners Spurgeon & Etherington

19-Dec 9:00am CDRPA Special Meeting Board of Directors; Staff

20-Dec 12:00pm CDRPA Holiday Party Board of Directors; Staff

25-Dec All Day Christmas - Office Closed CDRPA Staff 

26-Dec 9:00am Cancelled: CDRPA Board Meeting Board of Directors; Staff

26-Dec All Day Christmas - Office Closed CDRPA Staff 

Date: Time: Event: Attending: 
1-Jan All Day New Years Day - Office Closed CDRPA Staff 

9-Jan 9:00am CDRPA Board Meeting Board of Directors; Staff

11-Jan 9:00am-11:00am CDTC Board Meeting Commissioner DeRock

15-Jan All Day MLK Day - Office Closed CDRPA Staff 

16-Jan 12:00pm WVCC Board Meeting Commissioners Spurgeon & Etherington

19-Jan 1:30pm-3:00pm Chelan County Leadership Meeting Jim Kuntz

23-Jan 9:00am CDRPA Board Meeting Board of Directors; Staff

Date: Time: Event: Attending: 
1-Feb TBD WPPA 2024 Port Day Reception

2-Feb All Day WPPA 2024 Port Day 

8-Feb 9:00am-11:00am CDTC Board Meeting Commissioner DeRock

13-Feb 9:00am CDRPA Board Meeting Board of Directors; Staff

19-Feb All Day President's Day - Office Closed CDRPA Staff 

20-Feb 12:00pm WVCC Board Meeting Commissioners Spurgeon & Etherington

24-25 Feb All Day Northwest Aviation Conference & Trade Show Trent Moyers 

27-Feb 9:00am-3:00pm ADO Best Practices Meeting Sarah Deenik 

27-Feb 9:00am CDRPA Board Meeting Board of Directors; Staff

Date: Time: Event: Attending: 
12-Mar 9:00am CDRPA Board Meeting Board of Directors; Staff

14-Mar 9:00am-11:00am CDTC Board Meeting Commissioner DeRock

14-Mar WVCC 2024 Annual Banquet 

19-Mar 12:00pm WVCC Board Meeting Commissioners Spurgeon & Etherington

26-Mar 9:00am CDRPA Board Meeting Board of Directors; Staff

Date: Time: Event: Attending: 
9-Apr 9:00am CDRPA Board Meeting Board of Directors; Staff

16-Apr 12:00pm WVCC Board Meeting Commissioners Spurgeon & Etherington

17-19 April All Day 2024 Flywheel Investment Conference

23-Apr 9:00am CDRPA Board Meeting Board of Directors; Staff

2024 CDRPA Calendar of Events 

Wenatchee Valley Chamber of 

Commerce

CTC

CTC

CTC

CTC

Executive Flight

Wenatchee Valley Convention 

Center 

JANUARY 2024

FEBRUARY 2024

MARCH 2024

CTC

CTC

CTC

Puyallup, WA

TBD

TBD

CTC

CTC

Wenatchee Convention Center 

APRIL 2024

CTC

CTC

CTC

CTC

Olympia, WA

Location:

All Offices

DECEMBER 2023

2023 CDRPA Calendar of Events 

All Offices

All Offices

All Offices

Location:

Location:

Location:

Location:

CTC

All Offices

Wenatchee Valley Chamber of 

Commerce

Wenatchee Valley Chamber of 

Commerce

Wenatchee Valley Chamber of 

Commerce

Wenatchee Valley Chamber of 

Commerce

12/15/2023 9:11 AM



Date: Time: Event: Attending: 
9-May 9:00am-11:00am CDTC Board Meeting Commissioner DeRock

14-May 9:00am CDRPA Board Meeting Board of Directors; Staff

15-17 May All Day WPPA 2024 Spring Meeting

21-May 12:00pm WVCC Board Meeting Commissioners Spurgeon & Etherington

27-May 9:00am Memorial Day - Office Closed CDRPA Staff 

28-May 9:00am CDRPA Board Meeting Board of Directors; Staff

Date: Time: Event: Attending: 
11-Jun 9:00am CDRPA Board Meeting Board of Directors; Staff

13-Jun 9:00am-11:00am CDTC Board Meeting Commissioner DeRock

18-Jun 12:00pm WVCC Board Meeting Commissioners Spurgeon & Etherington

22-Jun All Day 
Community Dedication Celebration - Army 

National Guard 
Board of Directors; Staff

25-Jun 9:00am CDRPA Board Meeting Board of Directors; Staff

26-28 Jun All Day WPPA 2024 Finance & Administration Seminar Lough 

Date: Time: Event: Attending: 
4-Jul All Day Independence Day - Office Closed CDRPA Staff 

9-Jul 9:00am CDRPA Board Meeting Board of Directors; Staff

11-Jul 9:00am-11:00am CDTC Board Meeting Commissioner DeRock

11-12 Jul All Day WPPA 2024 Directors Seminar

16-Jul 12:00pm WVCC Board Meeting Commissioners Spurgeon & Etherington

23-Jul 9:00am CDRPA Board Meeting Board of Directors; Staff

Date: Time: Event: Attending: 
8-Aug 9:00am-11:00am CDTC Board Meeting Commissioner DeRock

13-Aug 9:00am CDRPA Board Meeting Board of Directors; Staff

20-Aug 12:00pm WVCC Board Meeting Commissioners Spurgeon & Etherington

27-Aug 9:00am CDRPA Board Meeting Board of Directors; Staff

Date: Time: Event: Attending: 
2-Sep All Day Labor Day - Office Closed CDRPA Staff 

10-Sep 9:00am CDRPA Board Meeting Board of Directors; Staff

12-Sep 9:00am-11:00am CDTC Board Meeting Commissioner DeRock

17-Sep 12:00pm WVCC Board Meeting Commissioners Spurgeon & Etherington

19-20 Sep All Day WPPA 2024 Environmental Seminar

24-Sep 9:00am CDRPA Board Meeting Board of Directors; Staff

JULY 2024

AUGUST 2024

CTC

CTC

Executive Flight 

Wenatchee Valley Chamber of 

Commerce

MAY 2024

JUNE 2024

OCTOBER 2024

CTC

CTC

CTC

CTC

CTC

AC Hotel by Marriot - Vancouver, 

WA

McMenamins Kalama Harbor 

Lodge 

Marcus Whitman Hotel & 

Conference Center, Walla Walla 

All Offices

All Offices

All Offices

CTC

Location:

Location:

Location:

Location:

Location:

Skamania Lodge - Stevenson, WA

Wenatchee Valley Chamber of 

Commerce

Wenatchee Valley Chamber of 

Commerce

CTC

CTC

CTC

CTC

CTC

CTC

CTC

SEPTEMBER 2024

Wenatchee Valley Chamber of 

Commerce

Wenatchee Valley Chamber of 

Commerce

12/15/2023 9:11 AM



Date: Time: Event: Attending: 
8-Oct 9:00am CDRPA Board Meeting Board of Directors; Staff

10-Oct 9:00am-11:00am CDTC Board Meeting Commissioner DeRock

15-Oct 12:00pm WVCC Board Meeting Commissioners Spurgeon & Etherington

22-Oct 9:00am CDRPA Board Meeting Board of Directors; Staff

24-25 All Day WPPA 2024 Small Ports Seminar

Date: Time: Event: Attending: 
12-Nov 9:00am CDRPA Board Meeting Board of Directors; Staff

14-Nov 9:00am-11:00am CDTC Board Meeting Commissioner DeRock

19-Nov 12:00pm WVCC Board Meeting Commissioners Spurgeon & Etherington

26-Nov 9:00am CDRPA Board Meeting Board of Directors; Staff

28-Nov All Day Thanksgiving Holiday - Office Closed CDRPA Staff 

29-Nov All Day Thanksgiving Holiday - Office Closed CDRPA Staff 

Date: Time: Event: Attending: 
10-Dec 9:00am CDRPA Board Meeting Board of Directors; Staff

11-13 Dec All Day WPPA 2024 Annual Meeting 

12-Dec 9:00am-11:00am CDTC Board Meeting Commissioner DeRock

17-Dec 12:00pm WVCC Board Meeting Commissioners Spurgeon & Etherington

24-Dec All Day Christmas - Office Closed CDRPA Staff 

25-Dec All Day Christmas - Office Closed CDRPA Staff 

All Offices

All Offices

All Offices

CTC

CTC

CTC

CTC

CTC

All Offices

Location:

Location:

Location:

CTC

Wenatchee Valley Chamber of 

Commerce

CTC

Campbell's Resort - Lake Chelan

Hyatt Regency - Bellevue

Wenatchee Valley Chamber of 

Commerce

Wenatchee Valley Chamber of 

Commerce

NOVEMBER 2024

DECEMBER 2024

CTC

12/15/2023 9:11 AM


	01.07.A. - Memo - CMI Lease Agreement - Third Floor CTC
	01.07.B. CMI CTC Lease Agreement
	01.08.A. Memo to Board - Legal Counsel - 2024 Hourly Rates
	01.09.A. Memo - USFS Carpet Replacement
	01.09.B. Bid Tab - 2023-65 USFS Building Carpet Replacement
	02.01.A. ELECTRONIC PACKET - Microsoft Reimburesment
	02.02.A. Test Well #1 Long Term Pump Test Technical Memo
	flow test text.docx
	Appendix - Well Logs
	Montoring Well Log
	McFann Well Log


	02.03.A. ELECTRONIC PACKET GA Terminal MOA
	02.03.B. GA Terminal MOA Signatures
	STAFF REPORT 1 - TRENT - All Things Lake Chelan Blog - Chelan airport to undergo an Environmental Assessment for proposed expansion
	STAFF REPORT 2 - 12.19.2023 Lease Reporting
	STAFF REPORT 3 -  Available Space for CDRPA Board Meeting
	xx. 2023-24 Calendar - 12.19 Meeting



